
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN  

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 
     
Jalal Muflihi, 
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v.        Hon.  
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a Global Corporation,     
 
 Defendant. 
Amy V. Doukoure (P80461) 
CAIR-MI Legal Fund 
Attorney for Plaintiff  
1905 Haggerty Road, Suite #5 
Canton, MI 48188 
(248) 559-2247 
adoukoure@cair.com 
 

 

 
 

COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND  
 

Plaintiff, Jalal Muflihi, by and through his attorney, CAIR-MI Legal Fund, 

file the following Complaint against Defendant, U.S. Steel Corporation, and avers  

as follows:  

JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND PARTIES 

1. The jurisdiction of this Court over this controversy is based on 28 

U.S.C. §1331, to enforce the provisions of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.  
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2.  This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 

to address the claims brought under Michigan’s Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act. 

MCLA § 37. 2201-2202,  

3. The venue of this Court over this controversy is based on 28 U.S.C. 

§1391(d). Defendant U.S. Steel Corporation (“U.S. Steel” or “Defendant”) is a 

corporation doing business in this judicial district within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. 

§1391(c) and, accordingly, venue lies in this judicial district. 

4. Plaintiff Jalal Muflihi is a Yemeni American Muslim man formerly 

employed at U.S. Steel Great Lakes Works in the labor department in trucks and 

cranes.  

5. Defendant U.S. Steel is a global steel producer with production 

operations across the United States. U.S. Steel’s Great Lakes Works is the facility 

where this complaint originates from, located in Ecorse and River Rouge, Wayne 

County Michigan. This location contains “finishing facilities for steels that are used 

primarily by customers in the automotive industry.”  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

6. On March 4, 2013, Plaintiff Jalal Muflihi (“Plaintiff” or “Mr. Muflihi”) 

began his employment at Defendant U.S. Steel Great Lakes Works (“Defendant” or 

“GLW”).  
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7. Upon information and belief, Plaintiff Mr. Muflihi was one of only two 

Arab Muslims to ever be employed at the Defendant’s GLW location for the 

approximate eight plus years that he worked there.  

8. After beginning employment with Defendant, all employees are 

required to train on the company equipment. 

9. In order to obtain promotions and increased pay, employees must fully 

certify on enough equipment. Training schedules, who is allowed to train and 

whether certifications are achieved, are all within the exclusive control of the 

Defendant’s supervisor. Who during all times pertinent to this lawsuit is Neil Golba. 

10. Likewise, overtime opportunities are based on a mixture of seniority 

and certification. As such, the fewer machines you’re certified on the less 

opportunities an employee would have for overtime opportunities. 

11. There are two factors in a GLW employee’s ability to transfer or accept 

different job types within their department: (1) seniority and (2) certification. When 

a job becomes available or a new need presents itself, it is offered first to employees 

who have the highest seniority who are qualified to operate that specific equipment 

or machinery.  

12. Pursuant to the labor union contract between the Defendant GLW and 

the United Steelworkers (Union), the Defendant is required to keep an “overtime 

board.”  
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13. Similar to advancement and opportunities, when overtime comes up for 

specific jobs/equipment that an employee has not been trained and certified on they 

will be skipped over and lose out on the opportunity to make more income.  

14. Defendant GLW’s employee Mr. Neil Golba was the direct supervisor 

of Plaintiff Mr. Muflihi. Mr. Golba has the discretion to assign labor employees to 

specific equipment and machinery, giving opportunities to gain certification and, 

eventually, overtime opportunities.  

15. Additionally, Mr. Golba is the sole individual at Defendant’s GLW’s 

facility that controls, maintains, and updates the overtime board. There is a method 

for utilizing the overtime board that is set out by a union contract that is intended to 

ensure equal opportunities for overtime for all employees. 

16. Like the overtime board and advancement opportunities, the union 

contract also dictates how different jobs/equipment are to be distributed throughout 

the facility for each shift. When a job opening comes in, employees are asked for 

their interest in the opening based on seniority, with highest seniority having first 

chance and then going down the line to the least senior employee. 

17. If no employee has expressed an interest in the opportunity, or no 

employee has voluntarily agreed to operate a specific machine or perform a specific 

job classification, the least senior employee qualified is required to take perform that 

job.  
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18. The Defendants rely exclusively on the department supervisor, Neil 

Golba, to ensure that the policies and procedures set forth for bidding on jobs and 

overtime are implemented in compliance with the express terms of the union 

contract.  

19. Mr. Muflihi was originally assigned to the labor department in trucks 

and cranes classified as a “Labor Grade 1.”  

20. After two years of obtaining enough certifications and time on the job, 

Mr. Muflihi was promoted within the same department to “Labor Grade 2,” the 

highest Labor Grade available in that department.  

21. During his employment at Defendant GLW, Plaintiff Mr. Muflihi was 

targeted and treated to a hostile working environment by Mr. Golba as well as other 

co-workers. 

22. Mr. Muflihi’s supervisor, Mr. Golba refused to allow Mr. Muflihi  to 

work on new equipment and gain certification compared to other non-Arab Muslim 

employees with less seniority. It took Mr. Muflihi significantly longer to obtain the 

same amount of certifications in comparison to his similarly situated non-Muslim, 

non-Arab co-workers. 

23. Furthermore, Mr. Muflihi was targeted by Mr. Golba for different terms 

and conditions of employment whereby Mr. Golba would assign Mr. Muflihi two 

separate job classifications for the same date. However, Mr. Golba never assigned 
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nor forced any of Mr. Muflihi’s non-Muslim non-Arab similarly situated co-workers 

two separate job classifications on the same date. 

24. Furthermore, Mr. Golba targeted Mr. Muflihi for harassment by 

following him throughout the plant, refusing to allow him to take breaks in the 

employee break room, telling Mr. Muflihi to leave the break room and return to his 

vehicle and otherwise disparaging Mr. Muflihi in front of his co-workers. 

25. Additionally, Mr. Golba engaged the assistance of several of Mr. 

Muflihi’s co-workers to further engage in targeting and harassing Mr. Muflihi, to 

spy on him, and to institute false and fictitious disciplines against Mr. Muflihi in an 

effort to create a pretext under which Mr. Muflihi could be terminated. 

26. Mr. Golba further utilized the overtime board in a manner that was  a 

direct violation of the union contract, company policy and procedures and in a 

manner that was intended to ensure that Mr. Muflihi would receive far less overtime 

hours than his similarly situated non-Muslim, non-Arab co-workers. 

27. Mr. Muflihi was disciplined as a direct and proximate result of Mr. 

Golba and Golba’s friends false accusations. Mr. Muflihi fought his discipline with 

witness testimony and visual evidence, however Defendant’s human resources 

representative of its GWL location not only upheld the discipline, but she also 

escalated and enhanced the penalty of the original discipline. 
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28. Defendant’s human resources representative made her final 

determination to enhance Mr. Muflihi’s penalty after Mr. Muflihi informed her that 

he had information, documents and pictures that would prove that the charges 

against him were falsified. Defendant’s representative told Mr. Muflihi to bring forth 

his documents and other evidence, however, she issued her final order the same day 

without reviewing any documents or pictures that supported Mr. Muflihi’s appeal.  

29. Upon information and belief, at no time previously or since has 

Defendant ever escalated or enhanced a recommended punishment for a discipline 

in the same manner.  

30. Upon information and belief, the enhanced penalty was in retaliation 

for Mr. Muflihi making a civil rights complaint and filing union grievances 

regarding his discriminatory treatment by Mr. Golba.  

31. On November 5, 2021, Plaintiff Mr. Muflihi filed an initial  EEOC 

complaint against Defendant U.S. Steel  

32. Prior to filing an EEOC complaint, Mr. Muflihi utilized the union 

grievance process to attempt to remedy the situation. Furthermore, Mr. Muflihi filed 

a series of internal civil rights complaints against Mr. Golba directly with U.S. Steel. 

33. In support of his grievances and his civil rights complaints, Mr. Muflihi 

obtained letters of support from co-workers that provided evidence that Mr. Muflihi 

was being treated differently than all other non-Muslim, non-Arab co-workers. Mr. 
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Muflihi further provided documentary and visual evidence that statements made in 

support of his discipline were in fact fraudulent and could not have taken place. 

34. However, each of these grievances and civil rights complaints were 

overseen by Defendant’s human resources representative Jennifer Hickey. Ms. 

Hickey, without investigation and against the great weight of the evidence 

summarily dismissed Mr. Muflihi’s complaints. This is the same human resources 

department representative that refused to view materials submitted by Mr. Muflihi 

when he appealed his disciplines previously.  

35. As a direct result of their support of Mr. Muflihi, the individuals who 

wrote testimonial letters on his behalf supporting his claims that he is being 

discriminated against are being targeted by Mr. Golba for unfair disciplines. 

Furthermore, the same individuals who targeted Mr. Muflihi for harassment and 

false disciplines targeted Mr. Muflihi’s coworkers who supported his claims by 

writing letters and making false allegations. 

36. Upon information and belief, and due to written statements of Mr. 

Muflihi’s coworkers, the reason for the false allegations against Mr. Muflihi and 

those who support them is due to their support of Mr. Golba. In fact, the same types 

of allegations first made against one of the witnesses in this case, are now being 

directed “anonymously” against Mr. Muflihi. 
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37. As a result of their support of Mr. Muflihi, two coworkers received 

harassment and such that it created a hostile working environment causing these two 

coworkers to file complaints with the EEOC on their own behalf.  

38. After filing his initial EEOC complaint, Mr. Muflihi’s harassment and 

targeting at the hands of Mr. Golba and Ms. Hickey escalated to the point where he 

was forced to file additional internal civil rights complaints such that Defendant sent 

out an investigator from their main office. 

39. However, during the investigation process the same three employees 

that had been harassing and targeting Mr. Muflihi and his supporters, whom Mr. 

Muflihi had complained about in his EEOC complaint and his civil rights 

complaints, filed “anonymous” complaints alleging that Mr. Muflihi had utilized a 

racial pejorative in their presence in some unknown circumstances, at some 

unknown and unidentified time. 

40. At no time prior to this investigation had any single person ever filed 

any complaints against Mr. Muflihi alleging any type of misconduct, racism, or 

violation of any of U.S. Steele’s policies. 

41. Furthermore, these individuals alleged that non only did Mr. Muflihi 

utilize a racist term against African Americans, they allege that the union steward 

and union president, both African Americans, refused to take their grievances and 

civil rights complaints alleging that Mr. Muflihi made those racist statements. 
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42. Additionally, not one of those individuals had at any time prior made 

any direct complaint about the use of a racist term directly to Defendant’s hotline, 

Defendants’ HR representative, nor their direct supervisor Mr. Golba.  

43.  As a result of these false and baseless accusations, Mr. Muflihi was 

locked out of his job and eventually terminated. Mr. Muflihi followed the union 

process for fighting his termination, including by providing contravening evidence, 

witness statements and other materials. However, Mr. Muflihi’s termination has 

been upheld. 

44. Mr. Muflihi has filed an additional EEOC complaint following his 

termination alleging wrongful termination and retaliation.  

45. As a result of the circumstances surrounding his treatment by Mr. 

Golba, Ms. Hickey, the hostile nature of the working environment, the unfair and 

fraudulent disciplines and his wrongful termination, Mr. Muflihi has suffered severe 

medical episodes including: 

a. Being treated for stress and anxiety at the company clinic following an 

incident with Mr. Golba; 

b. Being diagnosed with anxiety, stress and PTSD, and high blood 

pressure by his family physician; 

46. Additionally, Mr. Muflihi has suffered stress, anxiety, mental anguish, 

humiliation, and emotional distress as a result of the events described herein. 
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47. Furthermore, Mr. Muflihi has suffered a loss of back wages, overtime wages, 

employment opportunity and advancement and prospective wages.  

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

RELIGION, RACE, AND NATIONAL ORIGIN DISCRIMINATION 
 

48. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above as if 

stated in full herein. 

49. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was prohibited under 42 

U.S.C. § 1981 from making any employment decisions regarding Plaintiff which 

were motivated by Plaintiff’s religion, race and/or national origin. 

50. In violation of this duty, Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment 

because of their respective religion, race and/or national origin. 

51. The reasons provided for Plaintiff’s terminations were a pretext for 

religion, race and/or national origin discrimination.  

52. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s religion, race and/or 

national origin discrimination, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer lost 

wages, and other economic advantages of employment; Plaintiff has and will 

continue to suffer mental anguish, humiliation, physical injury, embarrassment, and 

emotional distress resulting from the discriminatory conduct of the Defendant. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff requests the following relief: 
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a. An order reinstating Plaintiff to their former position or 
comparable positions; 
 

b. An order awarding Plaintiff compensatory, economic and 
emotional damages, both past and future, in an amount they are 
found to be entitled to; 

 
c. An order awarding Plaintiff punitive damages; 

 
d. An order awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, attorney fees and 

litigation expenses; 
 

e. An order granting Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems 
just and equitable. 

 
 

COUNT II 
VIOLATION OF THE ELLIOTT-LARSEN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 

DISCRIMINATION 
 

53. Plaintiff incorporate by reference the allegations set forth above as if 

stated in full herein. 

54. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was prohibited under the 

Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (“ELCRA”) from making any employment decisions 

regarding Plaintiff which were motivated by Plaintiff’s religion, race and/or 

ethnicity and/or national origin or religion. 

55. In violation of this duty, Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment 

because of their respective religion, race and/or national origin. 

56. The reasons provided for Plaintiff’s termination were pretext for 

religion, race and/or national origin discrimination.  
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57. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful 

discrimination, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer lost wages, and other 

economic advantages of employment; Plaintiff has and will continue to suffer mental 

anguish, humiliation, physical injury, embarrassment, and emotional distress 

resulting from the discriminatory conduct of the Defendant. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff requests the following relief: 

a. An order reinstating Plaintiff to their former position or 
comparable positions; 
 

b. An order awarding Plaintiff compensatory, economic and 
emotional damages, both past and future, in an amount they are 
found to be entitled to; 

 
c. An order awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, attorney fees and 

litigation expenses as provided for under the ELCRA; 
 

d. An order granting Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems 
just and equitable. 

 

COUNT III 
VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

HOSTILE WORKING ENVIRONMENT 
 

58. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above as if 

stated in full herein.  

59. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was prohibited under 42 

U.S.C. § 1981 from making any conduct or communication towards Plaintiff which 
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were motivated by Plaintiff’ religion, race, national origin, or support for another 

employee.  

60. In violation of this duty, Defendant harassed, denied overtime 

opportunities, and ignored internal complaints from the Plaintiff because of their 

respective religion, race, national origin, or support for another employee.  

61. The reasons provided for Plaintiff’ treatment, while employed by 

Defendant, were a pretext for religion, race, and national origin discrimination and 

discrimination on the basis of supporting another employee’s claims of 

discrimination. 

62. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s religion, race, and/or 

national origin discrimination and Defendant’s discrimination on the basis of 

supporting another employee’s claims of discrimination, Plaintiff have suffered and 

will continue to suffer lost wages, and other economic advantages of employment; 

Plaintiff have and will continue to suffer mental anguish, humiliation, physical 

injury, embarrassment, and emotional distress resulting from the discriminatory 

conduct of the Defendant.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff requests the following relief: 

a. An order reinstating Plaintiff to their former position or comparable 

positions; 
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b. An order awarding Plaintiff compensatory, economic and emotional 

damages, both past and future, in an amount they are found to be 

entitled to; 

c. An order awarding Plaintiff punitive damages;  

d. An order awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, attorney fees and litigation 

expenses; 

e. An order granting Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems just 

and equitable. 

 

COUNT IV 
VIOLATION OF THE ELLIOT-LARSEN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 

HOSTILE WORKING ENVIRONMENT 
 

63. Plaintiff incorporate by reference the allegations set forth above as if 

stated in full herein.  

64. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was prohibited under the 

Elliot-Larsen Civil Rights Act (“ELCRA”) from making any conduct or 

communication towards Plaintiff which were motivated by Plaintiff’ religion, race, 

national origin, or support for another employee.  

65. In violation of this duty, Defendant harassed, denied overtime 

opportunities, and ignored internal complaints from the Plaintiff because of their 

respective religion, race, national origin, or support for another employee.  
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66. The reasons provided for Plaintiff’ treatment, while employed by 

Defendant, were a pretext for religion, race, and national origin discrimination and 

discrimination on the basis of supporting another employee’s claims of 

discrimination. 

67. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s religion, race, and/or 

national origin discrimination and Defendant’s discrimination on the basis of 

supporting another employee’s claims of discrimination, Plaintiff have suffered and 

will continue to suffer lost wages, and other economic advantages of employment; 

Plaintiff have and will continue to suffer mental anguish, humiliation, physical 

injury, embarrassment, and emotional distress resulting from the discriminatory 

conduct of the Defendant.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff requests the following relief: 

a. An order reinstating Plaintiff to their former position or comparable 

positions; 

b. An order awarding Plaintiff compensatory economic and emotional 

damages, both past and future, in an amount they are found to be 

entitled to; 

c. An order awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, attorney fees and litigation 

expenses as provided for under the ELCRA; 

Case 2:22-cv-12609-GAD-JJCG   ECF No. 1, PageID.16   Filed 10/31/22   Page 16 of 19



d. An order granting Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems just and 

equitable 

COUNT V 
VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

RETALIATION 
 

68. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above as if 

stated in full herein. 

69. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was prohibited under 42 

U.S.C. § 1981 from retaliating against Plaintiff for opposing religion, race and/or 

national origin discrimination prohibited by 42 U.S.C. § 1981.  

70. In violation of this duty, Defendant terminated Plaintiff’ employment 

in retaliation for Plaintiff’ opposition to unlawful religion, race and/or national origin 

discrimination.  

71. The reasons provided for Plaintiff’ termination were a pretext for 

unlawful retaliation.  

72. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s retaliatory conduct, 

Plaintiff have suffered and will continue to suffer lost wages, and other economic 

advantages of employment; Plaintiff have and will continue to suffer mental anguish, 

humiliation, physical injury, embarrassment, and emotional distress resulting from 

the discriminatory conduct of the Defendant. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff request the following relief: 
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a. An order reinstating Plaintiff to their former position or a 
comparable position; 
 

b. An order awarding Plaintiff compensatory economic and 
emotional damages, both past and future, in an amount they are 
found to be entitled to; 

 
c. An order awarding Plaintiff punitive damages; 

 
d. An order awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, attorney fees and 

litigation expenses; 
 

e. An order granting Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems 
just and equitable. 

 

COUNT VI 
VIOLATION OF THE ELLIOTT-LARSEN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 

RETALIATION 
 
 

73. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above as if 

stated in full herein. 

74. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was prohibited under the 

Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (“ELCRA”) from retaliating against Plaintiff for 

opposing religion, race and/or national origin discrimination prohibited under the 

Act. 

75. In violation of this duty, Defendant terminated Plaintiff’ employment 

in retaliation for Plaintiff’ opposition to unlawful discrimination prohibited under 

ELCRA. 
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76. The reasons provided for Plaintiff’ termination were pretext for 

unlawful retaliation.  

77. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s retaliatory conduct, 

Plaintiff have suffered and will continue to suffer lost wages, and other economic 

advantages of employment; Plaintiff have and will continue to suffer mental anguish, 

humiliation, physical injury, embarrassment, and emotional distress resulting from 

the discriminatory conduct of the Defendant. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff request the following relief: 

a. An order reinstating Plaintiff to their former position or a 
comparable position; 
 

b. An order awarding Plaintiff compensatory, economic and 
emotional damages, both past and future, in an amount they are 
found to be entitled to; 

 
c. An order awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, attorney fees and 

litigation expenses as provided for under the ELCRA; 
 

d. An order granting Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems 
just and equitable. 

 
DATE: October 31, 2022    Respectfully Submitted,  

CAIR-MI LEGAL FUND 

      BY: /s/ Amy V. Doukoure   
Amy V. Doukoure (P80461) 
CAIR-MI Legal Fund 
Attorney for Plaintiff  
1905 Haggerty Road, Suite #5 
Canton, MI 48188 
(248) 559-2247 
adoukoure@cair.com 
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